ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-211546

THE STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

MICHAEL J. HILTON,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

MAR 26 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the circuit court judge commit an error of law by retroactively applying a statutory change to the implied consent statute and excluding the results of Hilton's breath alcohol test where the officer who conducted the test fully complied with the statutory requirements in effect at the time of Hilton's arrest and the General Assembly manifested a clear intention for its substantive changes to the implied consent statute to be applied prospectively through the inclusion of a savings clause in the amending legislation?

II.

Assuming the statutory changes to the implied consent statute applied retroactively and required Hilton's breath alcohol test to be administered within two hours of his arrest, did the circuit court judge err in finding either Hilton's test was not conducted within the two-hour time limit or Hilton was not provided with a complete written report as required by the implied consent statute when Hilton's breath alcohol test was conducted within two hours of his arrest, Hilton was given a written report containing all of the information required by the implied consent statute but incorrectly listing the time of arrest, and the prosecutor provided Hilton with written notice of the correct time of arrest prior to the commencement of any proceeding where the test results were introduced as evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 10, 2008, Respondent Michael J. Hilton was arrested following an investigation into an automobile and motorcycle collision that resulted in the death of the driver of the motorcycle and serious injuries to a passenger on the motorcycle. In September of 2008, the Horry County grand jury indicted Hilton for one count of felony driving under the influence resulting in a death and one count of felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury. Prior to trial, Hilton filed a motion seeking the exclusion of any evidence related to a breath alcohol test conducted after the collision. On October 25, 2011, a hearing was conducted on Hilton's motion in the Horry County court of general sessions before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, circuit court judge. Following the hearing, the circuit court judge issued an order dated March 26, 2012, suppressing the breath alcohol test results in Hilton's case. The State then timely filed a notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At 10:15 p.m. on the evening of May 10, 2008, Respondent Michael J. Hilton was driving on a highway in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, when the vehicle he was driving collided with a motorcycle. (R. p. 138; pp. 291-294). Forty-four-year-old Angelo Gonzalez, the driver of the motorcycle, was killed as a result of the collision, and thirty-six-year-old Susan Reader, a passenger on the motorcycle, was seriously injured in the collision. (R. pp. 291-294). Several people witnessed Hilton's vehicle and the motorcycle collide, and law enforcement was contacted. (R. pp. 291-294).

Approximately ten minutes later, Trooper Pete Schmidt of the South Carolina Highway Patrol arrived at the scene of the collision. (R. pp. 139-140; pp. 291-294). After investigating the incident, Trooper Schmidt arrested Hilton at 10:47 p.m. (R. p. 137; pp. 143-144; p. 295). Trooper Schmidt then issued uniform traffic tickets to Hilton for failure to yield the right-of-way, felony driving under the influence resulting in a death, and felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury. (R. p. 138; pp. 288-289).

Following Hilton's arrest, he was transported to the Myrtle Beach Police Department for a breath alcohol test to determine his alcohol concentration. (R. p. 6; pp. 284-287). Trooper Schmidt began the statutorily-required twenty-minute pre-test observation period at 11:39 p.m., entered the "arrest time" into the Datamaster machine as 10:15 p.m., and attempted to first conduct a simulator test at 11:54 p.m.¹ (R. p. 137; pp. 284-287). However, the simulator solution used by the Datamaster machine failed to

¹ At the time Trooper Schmidt entered 10:15 p.m. into the Datamaster machine as the "arrest time," the standard operating procedure in Myrtle Beach was to use the time of the collision as the "arrest time." (R. pp. 137-138). Notably, the standard operating procedure in Myrtle Beach was consistent with the S.L.E.D. policy setting forth the proper procedure for the administration of an implied consent breath alcohol test, which instructed Datamaster operators to enter the "arrest or violation time in twelve hour format" when entering the "arrest time" into a Datamaster machine. (R. pp. 193-194; p. 280).

test within the proper limits three times, and the officer was unable to conduct the simulator test with that particular sample. (R. pp. 150-151; p. 220; pp. 284-287; pp. 296-297). Trooper Schmidt then replaced the simulator solution in the Datamaster machine with a new sample, and the new simulator solution tested within an appropriate range. (R. pp. 150-151; p. 220; p. 226; pp. 284-284). Thereafter, at 12:32 a.m. on May 11, 2008, Hilton submitted to the breath alcohol test, and the results showed his breath alcohol concentration was 0.15 percent. (R. p. 92; p. 151; pp. 246-247; p. 262; pp. 284-287).

Subsequently, Hilton was indicted for felony driving under the influence resulting in a death and felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury. (R. pp. 298-301). Prior to trial, Hilton filed a motion seeking the exclusion of “all evidence of testing, including any and all field sobriety tests, chemical analyses and tests, including blood alcohol tests and Data Master tests, performed on the Defendant both prior and subsequent to his arrest.” (R. p. 5). On October 3, 2011, the prosecutor served Hilton with a letter stating:

It has come to the attention of the State in your case that the time of arrest as indicated on the Datamaster report of 22:15 reflected the time of violation or time of incident and not the actual time of arrest. This was discovered after reviewing the written and video documentation associated with your case. Pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 56-5-2950 subsection (d) you must be informed of the actual time of arrest in writing. The actual time of arrest in your case was 22:47:54 as recorded on the roadside video.²

(R. p. 295). Thereafter, on October 25, 2011, a hearing was conducted on Hilton’s motion. (R. p. 52).

² The prosecutor provided the letter to Hilton immediately before the originally-scheduled hearing on Hilton’s motion to exclude the breath alcohol test results, and the circuit court judge continued the hearing until October 25, 2011, at Hilton’s request. (R. p. 3, n. 2).

During the hearing, Hilton indicated he was moving to exclude the breath alcohol test results.³ (R. pp. 52-53). In arguing for the suppression of that evidence, Hilton conceded the statute in effect at the time of his arrest did **not** require a breath alcohol test to be conducted within two hours of arrest, but he argued the statute was amended within a year of his arrest to impose a two-hour time limit for the performance of such a test. (R. p. 58; p. 163). Hilton asserted the statutory change was procedural in nature, which he claimed meant it should be applied retroactively to his case. (R. p. 59). Furthermore, Hilton argued the letter submitted to him by the prosecutor correcting his time of arrest was not sufficient to constitute a written report as required by the implied consent statute.⁴ (R. pp. 62-63).

In response, the prosecutor argued the statutory changes to S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950 were substantive in nature and did not apply retroactively to Hilton's case based on the plain language of the savings clause included in the amending legislation. (R. pp. 36-40). The prosecutor further asserted Hilton's breath alcohol test was conducted within two hours of his arrest even if the statutory changes applied retroactively to his case. (R. pp. 40-43). For those reasons, the prosecutor argued Hilton's motion to exclude the breath alcohol test results should be denied. (R. pp. 43-44).

After considering the arguments of counsel, the circuit court judge ultimately granted Hilton's motion to exclude the evidence. (R. p. 4). In reaching that decision, the circuit court judge noted remedial or procedural amendments to statutes generally applied retroactively before ruling:

³ At the outset of the hearing, Hilton provided the circuit court judge and the prosecutor with a copy of a memorandum in support of his motion. (R. pp. 54-56).

⁴ Additionally, Hilton asserted the particular Datamaster machine used in his case was unreliable. (R. pp. 65-66). However, the circuit court judge subsequently rejected that contention. (R. pp. 1-2).

This court finds as a matter of law that the amendment to Code §56-5-2950(A) is procedural in nature and, thus, is to be applied retroactively. Therefore, the amendment to Code §56-5-2950(A) requiring that a person's breath sample be taken within two hours of the person's arrest is applicable in this case.

(R. p. 2). Based on the information contained in the breath alcohol analysis test report, the circuit court judge found Hilton's time of arrest was 10:15 a.m. and the time of the breath alcohol test was 12:32 a.m. (R. p. 3). While acknowledging the prosecutor notified Hilton of the actual time of his arrest, the circuit court judge found the prosecutor's letter did not constitute a written report as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(I) because it did not include the time of testing or the test results.⁵ (R. p. 3). The circuit court judge then ruled:

Because the BA report issued to the defendant pursuant to Code §56-5-2950(I) indicates that the defendant was arrested on May 10, 2008 at 10:15 p.m. and his breath sample was taken on May 11, 2008 at 12:32 a.m., more than 2 hours after the defendant's arrest, the State failed to take the defendant's breath sample for testing within two hours of his arrest as mandated by Code §56-5-2950(A). On the other hand, if the breath sample was taken within two hours of the defendant's arrest as argued by the State, then the State has failed to provide the defendant with a correct written report that includes the defendant's time of arrest, time of testing and test results as mandated by Code §56-5-2950(I). Therefore, the defendant's breathalyzer test results in this case should be suppressed and the defendant's motion granted.

(R. p. 4). The State then timely appealed the circuit court judge's ruling.

⁵ The circuit court judge further noted: "At the motion hearing, the breathalyzer operator testified that the prosecutor's letter dated October 3, 2011, accurately reflected the date and time of arrest and that the date and time of arrest on the BA report was not correct. However, the state has never issued an amended written report. Instead, the State argues that the original BA report combined with the prosecutor's letter amending the date and time of arrest satisfies the requirements of Code §56-5-2950(I)." (R. p. 3, n. 3).

ARGUMENT

I.

Did the circuit court judge commit an error of law by retroactively applying a statutory change to the implied consent statute and excluding the results of Hilton's breath alcohol test where the officer who conducted the test fully complied with the statutory requirements in effect at the time of Hilton's arrest and the General Assembly manifested a clear intention for its substantive changes to the implied consent statute to be applied prospectively through the inclusion of a savings clause in the amending legislation?

The circuit court judge ruled the results of a breath alcohol test conducted after Hilton was arrested should be excluded from trial because the test was not conducted within two hours of arrest as required by a statutory amendment to S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(a) that did not take effect until approximately nine months after Hilton's arrest. That ruling was clearly erroneous. Based on the plain language of the legislative act amending Section 56-5-2950(a) and its savings clause, any amendments to that statute were not retroactively applicable to cases arising before the effective date of the act. Because Hilton was arrested before the effective date of the act, his case arose before the amendments to Section 56-5-2950(a) took effect, which meant those substantive statutory changes did not apply retroactively to his case. Accordingly, as the arresting officer in Hilton's case unquestionably conducted the breath alcohol test in full compliance with the law in effect at the time of the test, the circuit court judge erred in finding the breath alcohol test results should be suppressed. The circuit court judge's ruling should be reversed, and Hilton's case should be remanded for trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal

for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

ANALYSIS

Under the rules of statutory construction, the cardinal and overriding rule is for the courts to determine and effectuate legislative intent. Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the rule that legislative intent must prevail if it can reasonably be discovered from the language employed in the statute, which must be construed in light of the statute’s intended purpose. State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 365-366, 574 S.E.2d 203, 206 (Ct. App. 2002). The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute, and the court must apply clear and unambiguous terms of a statute according to their literal meaning. State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 102, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004). “If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no need to employ rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.” Morgan, 352 S.C. at 366-367, 574 S.E.2d at 206-207. Furthermore, courts will reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a plainly absurd result which the legislature could not have intended or which would defeat the plain legislative intent. State v. Sweat, 379 S.C. 367, 377, 665 S.E.2d 645, 650 (Ct. App. 2008).

“It is a well-settled rule of statutory construction that absent a specific provision or clear legislative intent to the contrary, statutes are to be construed prospectively rather than retroactively, unless the statute is remedial or procedural in nature.” Edwards v.

State Law Enforcement Div., 395 S.C. 571, 579, 720 S.E.2d 462, 466 (2011); see Boyd v. Boyd, 277 S.C. 416, 418, 289 S.E.2d 153, 154 (1982) (“In the construction of statutes there is a presumption that statutory enactments are to be considered prospective rather than retroactive in their operation unless there is a specific provision or clear legislative intent to the contrary.”). “No statute will be applied retroactively unless that result is so clearly compelled as to leave no room for reasonable doubt[.]” Hyder v. Jones, 271 S.C. 85, 87-88, 245 S.E.2d 123, 125 (1978).

Statutes are considered remedial in nature when they create new remedies for existing rights or enlarge the rights of persons under disability. Edwards, 395 S.C. at 579, 720 S.E.2d at 466. Statutes are considered to be procedural in nature when they set out a mode of procedure for a court to follow or prescribe a method of enforcing rights. Id. at 580, 720 S.E.2d at 466. However, regardless of whether a statute is remedial or procedural in nature, the intent of the legislature is paramount and ultimately determines whether a statute will have prospective or retroactive application. Jenkins v. Meares, 302 S.C. 142, 146, 394 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1990).

At the time of Hilton’s arrest, law enforcement officers in South Carolina were authorized to administer breath alcohol tests to any person arrested for driving under the influence. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(a) (2006). Pursuant to the requirements of Section 56-5-2950(a), such testing had to be administered in accordance with S.L.E.D. policies by a properly trained and certified party after the arrested person’s conduct was recorded for twenty minutes and an initial accurate simulator test was performed. Id. Significantly, Section 56-5-2950(a) did **not** require the breath alcohol test to be conducted within any particular period of time. Id. However, the testing necessarily had to be conducted within three hours because videotaping at the testing site was statutorily

required to be completed within three hours of the person's arrest unless otherwise impossible. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(2)(a) (2006).

Approximately nine months after Hilton's arrest, a legislative act amending Section 56-5-2950(a) took effect and imposed a new requirement that any breath alcohol test conducted pursuant to the statute had to be completed within two hours of arrest. See Act No. 201, § 9, 2008 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolutions (amending "Section 56-5-2950, relating to a driver's implied consent to testing for alcohol or drugs, so as . . . to provide when breath samples must be collected under this provision . . . "); Act No. 201, § 24, 2008 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolutions ("This act takes effect at 12:00 p.m. on February 10, 2009."); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(A) (Supp. 2009) ("A breath sample taken for testing must be collected within two hours of arrest."). Critically, in addition to the section amending Section 56-5-2950(a), the General Assembly expressly included a savings clause in the amending act to restrict the effect its amendments would have on any cases arising prior to the act's effective date.⁶ Specifically, the savings clause provided:

Savings clause

SECTION 23. The repeal or amendment by the provisions of this act or any law, whether temporary or permanent or civil or criminal, does not affect pending actions, rights, duties, or liabilities founded thereon, or alter, discharge, release, or extinguish any penalty, forfeiture, or liability incurred under the repealed or amended law, unless the repealed or amended provision shall so expressly provide. After the effective date of this act, all laws repealed or amended by this act must be taken and treated as remaining in full force and effect for the purpose of sustaining any pending or vested right, civil action, criminal prosecution, or appeal existing as of the effective date of this act, and for the enforcement of rights, duties, penalties, forfeitures, and liabilities as they stood under the repealed or amended laws.

⁶ A "savings clause" or "saving clause" is defined as: "A statutory provision exempting from coverage something that would otherwise be included." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1461 (9th ed. 2009). "A saving clause is generally used in a repealing act to preserve rights and claims that would otherwise be lost." Id.

Act No. 201, § 23, 2008 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolutions. Thus, based on the plain language of the savings clause, the General Assembly clearly manifested its intention for the statutory amendments enacted by the legislature to be applied prospectively and not retroactively. Cf. State v. Bolin, 381 S.C. 557, 562, 673 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2009) (“By stating that the Act is to have no effect on pending actions, criminal prosecutions, rights, duties, or liabilities, and that all laws repealed or amended by the Act must be treated as remaining in full force and effect, the clear language of the Act indicates that it is prospective.”); see also State v. Bryant, 382 S.C. 505, 509, 675 S.E.2d 816, 817 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, a savings clause is intended to be ‘a restriction in a repealing act, which is intended to save rights, pending prosecutions, penalties, etc., from the annihilation which would result from an unrestricted appeal.’ ” (citations omitted)).

Despite the plain language of the statute and the savings clause, the circuit court judge in the case sub judice erroneously determined the statutory amendments to Section 56-5-2950(a) enacted after Hilton was arrested applied retroactively to Hilton’s case. In reaching that determination, the circuit court judge concluded the statutory changes to Section 56-5-2950(a) were procedural in nature. Thereafter, based solely on the allegedly procedural nature of the amendments without consideration of the plain language of the amending legislation, the circuit court judge determined those statutory changes applied retroactively to Hilton’s case even though they were not yet effective at the time of Hilton’s arrest and subsequent breath alcohol test. The circuit court judge’s ruling constituted a clear error of law and was wholly inconsistent with the plain and unambiguous language of the amending act and its savings clause.

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