THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-211546

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL J. HILTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Richard A. Harpootlian
Graham L. Newman
M. David Scott
RICHARD A. HARPOOTLIAN, P.A.
1410 Laurel Street
Post Office Box 1090
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone (803) 252-4848
Facsimile (803) 252-4810

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 15 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

The Supreme Court has also recognized that statutory amendments affecting procedural rights and determining the admissibility of evidence are to be applied retroactively. After the Court of Appeals' decision in Bryant, the Supreme Court decided State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 690 S.E.2d 565 (2010). Stahlnecker dealt with the same issue addressed in Bryant: retroactive application of Section 17-23-175 allowing out-of-court statements of children to be admitted as evidence at trial. In holding that this evidence was admissible against the defendant even though the statute was enacted after he was indicted, the Court cited Bryant with approval.

In interpreting section 17-23-175, the court of appeals concluded the section was not penal in nature but rather "deals with procedural, evidentiary matters." State v. Bryant, 382 S.C. 505, 512, 675 S.E.2d 816, 820 (Ct. App. 2009). . . . The amount or type of evidence required at the time of the commission of the offense in order to convict the offender is not altered by section 17-23-175. Because section 17-23-175 merely authorizes the introduction of new evidence and does not alter substantial personal rights, it does not violate the *ex post facto* laws.

Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. at 619-20, 690 S.E.2d at 571. The Court concluded the trial court correctly determined Section 17-23-175 applied retroactively.

Similarly, the Act's amendment to Section 56-5-2950 does not affect substantive rights. It does not change the elements of any offense and it does not change the quantum of evidence needed to sustain a conviction. Nor does the amendment alter the manner in which evidence is

collected. The amendment merely establishes temporal requirements concerning the admissibility of highly ephemeral evidence by revising “the procedure for administering breath tests or obtaining samples” in order to ensure that only reliable evidence is admitted at trial. The amendment, by the clear language used therein, is the sort of procedural, evidentiary amendment to which South Carolina appellate courts have consistently given retroactive effect. Because the arresting officer did not administer Respondent’s breath test within two hours of his arrest, as required by law, the test results are unreliable, inadmissible, and properly excluded by the trial court.

The adopted procedure also reflects the General Assembly’s judgment that a two-hour collection procedure is necessary in order to ensure that ephemeral blood-alcohol evidence is reliable. It is presumed that “the Legislature in adopting an amendment to a statute intended to make some change in the existing law.” Vernon v. Harleysville Mut. Cas. Co., 244 S.C. 152, 155, 135 S.E.2d 841, 844 (1964). “The Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.” Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E.2d 196, 198 (2002). The Act prescribed a time limit for the administration of breath tests relative to the time of arrest. It follows that Appellant’s failure to administer the breath test within two hours of arrest materially affects the accuracy and reliability of the breath test results. To hold that this time limit does not apply in this case would defeat the remedial and procedural purposes of the Act and ignore the intent of the Legislature.

Furthermore, the statutory two-hour time limit does not go to the machine’s capability to measure blood alcohol level, rather, the time limit ensures the breath sample measured by the machine is a reliable indication of the driver’s blood intoxication level *at the time the driver was operating a motor vehicle*. “The timing of the administration of [blood alcohol] tests is crucial

because of the ephemeral nature of blood intoxication levels.” State v. Bull, 350 S.C. 58, 62, 564 S.E.2d 351, 354 (Ct. App. 2002). Accordingly, the breath test must not only be performed by a machine which accurately measures the blood intoxication, but it must also be performed within the statutorily-prescribed timeframe. Here, retired SLED captain Andrew Jordan, the State’s expert in DataMaster machines called to testify by the Appellant, testified that DataMaster tests should be administered “as soon as possible” relative to the time of the alleged offense. R. p. 199, lines 11-13. In recognition of these facts, the General Assembly amended the implied consent statute to provide a time limit in which samples must be collected.²

To the extent Appellant relies upon the savings clause to argue the circuit court erred, that issue is not preserved because the circuit court did not rule upon it. “For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 481, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011). See also, State v. Jones, 392 S.C. 647, 655, 709 S.E.2d 696, 700 (Ct. App. 2011) (“In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.”).

The general rule of issue preservation is if an issue was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, it will not be considered for the first time on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003). Imposing this preservation requirement is meant to enable the trial court to rule properly after it has considered all the relevant facts, law, and arguments. On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000).

State v. Porter, 389 S.C. 27, 37-38, 698 S.E.2d 237, 242 (Ct. App. 2010). The circuit court did not rule upon Appellant’s argument that the savings clause prohibits retroactive application of

² Prior to adoption of the Act, South Carolina law already required that breath tests be administered within two hours of arrest where an offender was to be charged with driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration. See S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-2933 (2006). The Act’s amendment brings Section 56-5-2950 in line with the General Assembly’s prior determination with respect to Section 56-5-2933.

the Act. Appellant failed to make a motion seeking a ruling on this issue and therefore it is not preserved for review by this Court.

Even if the issue is preserved, it is without merit for the reasons set forth above. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the Court in Frey retroactively applied amendments to the implied consent statute – the same statute in issue here – despite a savings clause. In Bryant, this Court gave retroactive application to a statute that made previously-inadmissible evidence admissible. The statute at issue in Bryant contained a savings clause that is word-for-word the same as the savings clause at issue here. In Stahlnecker, the Supreme Court adopted whole-cloth the reasoning in Bryant. The General Assembly is presumed to know the common law, including the abundance of cases holding that procedural changes apply retroactively. The General Assembly described the temporal requirement contained in the Act as a change in “procedure.” It follows that the change should be applied retroactively, and the circuit court should be affirmed.³

³ Appellant cites Murphy v. State, 392 S.C. 626, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011) and State v. Branham, 392 S.C. 225, 708 S.E.2d 806 (Ct. App. 2011) to argue that the issue of retroactive application of the Act has already been decided adversely to Respondent. However, neither of those cases analyzes or discusses retroactive application of the Act. It appears the issue was not raised in those cases.

II.

The circuit court did not err in excluding the results of the breath test where there is evidence in the record that the test was not performed within two hours of Respondent's arrest.

There is ample evidence in the record to support the circuit court's conclusion that the DataMaster test was not administered within two hours of Respondent's arrest and, therefore, the ruling should be affirmed.

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing State v. Cutter, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000). "This same standard of review applies to preliminary factual findings in determining the admissibility of certain evidence in criminal cases." State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by *any* evidence. Id. The findings of the circuit court are binding on the reviewing court unless unsupported by the evidence or clearly wrong, or controlled by an error of law. State v. Williams, 326 S.C. 130, 135, 485 S.E.2d 99, 102 (1997) (citing State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 440 S.E.2d 341 (1994)).

Here, after applying clear precedent of this Court and the Supreme Court to determine the procedural change in the implied consent statute applied retroactively, the circuit court found the breath test was not conducted within two hours and excluded the evidence from trial. There is overwhelming evidence to support this factual determination and the Court of Appeals should affirm the circuit court.

As set forth above, during the motion hearing on October 3, 2011, the prosecutor provided Respondent a letter purporting to change the time of arrest from 10:15 p.m., as evidenced by the BAAT Reports, to 10:47 p.m. Respondent objected to Appellant's post-hoc attempt to change the arrest time on the basis that the prosecutor's letter was provided only minutes before the hearing began, was inadmissible to alter the time of arrest indicated in the BAAT Reports, and was also inadmissible hearsay. Due to the belated nature of the letter's production to Respondent, the circuit court continued the October 3 hearing.

Subsequently, at the October 25 hearing, Respondent introduced four BAAT Reports.⁴ R. pp. 284-87. Each of these BAAT Reports indicates the "arrest time" as 22:15, or 10:15 p.m. Officer Schmidt testified that he had no independent recollection of the arrest time. R. p. 140, lines 1-3; p. 147, lines 7-10. The fourth BAAT Report indicates that the "subject sample" was taken at 00:32 (12:32 a.m. the day after the arrest). R. p. 287.

The only evidence presented to the circuit court that indicated an arrest time other than 10:15 p.m. was a letter dated October 3, 2011 and signed by the prosecutor. R. p. 295. The prosecutor's letter contradicts the four BAAT Reports and purports to establish the time of Respondent's arrest as "22:47:54" (10:47 p.m.). According to the letter, this is the time "recorded on the roadside video." R. p. 295. There is no factual dispute that the prosecutor was not present at the arrest scene and has no personal knowledge of the Respondent's time of arrest. R. p. 148, line 24-p. 149, line 9. Furthermore, the Appellant introduced no evidence to establish, or even suggest, that the clock appearing on the "roadside video" was synchronized with the clock on the DataMaster machine. R. p. 155, lines 14-22. Officer Schmidt testified he could not change the

⁴ The first three BAAT Reports were generated after failed simulator tests and copies provided to the Respondent. The fourth BAAT Report was generated after Respondent submitted a breath sample.

clock on the video camera and he never checked the clock for accuracy. R. p. 155, lines 5-6; lines 21-22.

There is abundant, competent evidence to support the circuit court's ruling that the breath test was not administered within two hours of arrest. The only contrary "evidence" is the prosecutor's October 3 letter. This letter is admittedly not based on her firsthand knowledge but relies on the roadside video timestamp as the basis for its determination of Respondent's time of arrest. Officer Schmidt, the custodian of that video, could not vouch for the accuracy of the time depicted in the video, had no independent recollection of the time of arrest, and could not say that the time on the video and the time on the DataMaster report were the same. R. p. 155, lines 12-22. Therefore, the circuit court correctly held that the October 3 letter is not admissible for the purpose of establishing the time of arrest or for any other evidentiary purpose.

As an additional basis for excluding the results of the breath test, the circuit court found the Appellant never provided Respondent with a written report that complied with the requirements of Section 56-5-2950(I) and indicating the breath test was performed within two hours of the time of arrest. R. p. 4. Section 56-5-2950(I) requires the arresting law enforcement officer to provide the defendant charged with driving under the influence "a written report including the time of arrest, the time of the tests, and the results of the tests before any trial or other proceeding in which the results of the tests are used as evidence."⁵ While the statute does not specify the precise form this report should take, argument and statements of counsel, like the prosecutor's October 3 letter, are not evidence. See, e.g., S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. Thompson, 357 S.C. 101, 105, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct. App. 2003). Officer Schmidt did, however, testify

⁵ At the time of the Respondent's arrest, this provision was codified at Section 56-5-2950(d). When the statute was amended by the Act, effective on February 9, 2009, the written report requirement was re-codified in subsection (I) with no change in the language used.

that he provided Respondent with “breath alcohol analyst test report” which set forth the date of arrest and the time of the arrest as 22:15 (i.e. 10:15 p.m.). R. p. 147, line 15-p. 148, line 4; p. 148, lines 17-23.

The circuit court properly concluded that the prosecutor’s October 3, 2011, letter does not establish or alter Respondent’s time of arrest and nor does it constitute a “written report” for the purpose of Section 56-5-2950(I). The letter purports to set forth the time of arrest only; but the written report required by subsection (I) must also set forth the time of the tests, and the results of the tests. The prosecutor’s letter contains neither the time nor the results of the test. Further, the prosecutor’s letter is not based on first-hand knowledge but appears to be based solely on the timestamp in the videotape produced by officers at the accident scene. The timestamp depicted in the videotape is hearsay: an out-of-court statement that Appellant now attempts to rely upon for the truth of the matter stated. As such, the timestamp and the prosecutor’s letter based thereon do not change the time of arrest set forth in the BAAT Reports. The letter would not be admissible under Rule 802, SCRE, or any rule of evidence. Moreover, the letter is essentially argument or a statement of counsel for the State. As such, it is not admissible as substantive evidence. See S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. Thompson, supra (argument by counsel is not evidence).

The only writing that complies with the plain requirements of Section 56-5-2950(I) is the fourth BAAT Report provided to Respondent by Officer Schmidt on the night of the arrest. That document contains all of the information prescribed by Section 56-5-2950(I): the time of arrest, the time of the test, and the results of the test. The prosecutor’s letter is not competent evidence of anything and the circuit court correctly declined to consider it in reaching its conclusion.

The evidence supports the circuit court's conclusion that the Appellant failed to provide the Respondent with a written report as required by Section 56-5-2950(I), other than the BAAT Report. R. p. 287. The BAAT report is the only written report that complies with Section 56-5-2950(I), and it indicates the time of arrest was more than two hours prior to the administration of the breath test. Because this conclusion is supported by the evidence, it should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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